FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/23/2024
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/23/2024 9:57 AM

Case #: 1037228

No. 861239-9-I

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION 1 OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## LUCID GROUP USA, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

## STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF LICENSING,

Respondent.

## **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Billy Martin Donley (pro hac vice)

William P. Geise (pro hac vice) 811 Main Street, Suite 1100

Houston, TX 77002 Tel: 713.646.1382

Tel: 713.646.1354 Fax: 713.751.1717

bdonley@bakerlaw.com wgeise@bakerlaw.com Curt Roy Hineline WSBA No. 16317

999 Third Avenue, Suite 3900

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Lucid Group USA, Inc. ("Lucid Group") wants to sell Lucid electric vehicles directly to consumers in Washington, just like Tesla does from its nine dealerships in the state. But the Court of Appeals held that Washington law prohibits Lucid from doing so and that the law was constitutional. This Court should grant review because that decision addresses a significant constitutional question of enormous practical importance: Namely, is Tesla truly going to be the only electric vehicle manufacturer allowed to sell vehicles directly to consumers in Washington?

Since the Legislature enacted a special provision for Tesla in 2014, Tesla's growth in the state has been astronomical—it has more than doubled its number of dealerships and nearly 100,000 Washington residents now drive a Tesla. Washington consumers deserve more electric vehicle choices. The Washington Departments of Commerce and Transportation have concluded that, to meet the state's environmental goals, the "state can no longer leave any policy option untapped to increase EV adoption," and that other manufacturers like Lucid must be "allowed to sell directly to consumers" because "this market inconsistency creates an unnecessary barrier to EV adoption." 1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Washington Interagency Electric Vehicle Coordinating Council, Washington Transportation and Electrification Strategy, at 117 (Feb.

That "market inconsistency" is not just an environmental problem, it is a constitutional problem too. Washington's differential treatment of Lucid runs afoul of the Washington Constitution's Privileges and Immunities Clause, which protects against "favoritism and special treatment for a few to the disadvantage of others." Martinez-Cuevas v. DeRuyter Brothers Dairy, Inc., 196 Wash.2d 506, 518, 475 P.3d 164 (2020). According to the Court of Appeals, Washington's prohibition of Lucid's direct-sales-only business model does not implicate a "privilege" because there is no specific authority creating a fundamental right to sell cars—even though this Court repeatedly has recognized the fundamental right to carry on business. The Court of Appeals' requirement that plaintiffs identify pre-existing authority establishing a fundamental right to engage in a specific activity conflicts with *Martinez-Cuevas*, where this Court explained that while its precedent has "identified fundamental rights of state citizenship," it has "never characterized this list as comprehensive or limited to only those enumerated rights." Id. at 522 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals' contrary holding takes a wrecking ball to the "broad range of rights" the clause was meant to cover, id., further warranting this Court's review.

<sup>2024),</sup> available at https://deptofcommerce.app.box.com/s/uphekt6 rwpmtvbhojyi6eifjxdwttdvh (last visited Dec. 16, 2024).

#### II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS/DECISION BELOW

Lucid Group petitions for this Court's review of *Lucid Group USA*, *Inc. v. Department of Licensing*, No. 86123-9-I (Wash. Ct. App. Nov. 25, 2024) (cited as "slip op." and attached as App. 1–24).

## III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether Washington can prohibit Lucid Group from engaging in its business of selling cars directly to consumers without using any independent franchised dealers, while permitting other manufacturers and dealers to do the same, consistent with the command of the Privileges and Immunities Clause of the Washington Constitution that "[n]o law shall be passed granting to any citizen, class of citizens, or corporation other than municipal, privileges or immunities which upon the same terms shall not equally belong to all citizens, or corporations." Wash. Const. art. I, § 12.

## IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Lucid USA, Inc. ("Lucid Manufacturing") is an automotive company that manufactures zero emission, all electric motor vehicles. Certified Agency Record ("AR") at 251. Lucid Group is an affiliate of Lucid Manufacturing and sells the vehicles manufactured by Lucid Manufacturing. *Id.* Lucid Manufacturing and Lucid Group share a common parent—

Atieva, Inc. AR at 252. This petition will refer to these affiliated entities collectively as "Lucid."

Lucid employs a direct-sales-only business model, selling its vehicles straight to consumers without any independent franchised dealers. AR at 251. This model enables Lucid to provide a premium sales experience, one that avoids the stress, annoyances, and frustrations that consumers typically associate with purchasing a new car. AR at 252.

The direct-sales-only model is customary for new electric vehicle manufacturers. Most notably, Tesla, Inc., directly sells its electric vehicles. Tesla is licensed in Washington both as a motor vehicle manufacturer and a dealer. AR at 351–82. The DOL first licensed Tesla as a dealer in 2009 and has renewed Tesla's license annually ever since. AR at 351–52; RCW 46.70.083. In 2014, the Washington Legislature enacted a special provision confirming Tesla's authorization to directly sell its vehicles in the state. *See* 2014 Wash. Legis. Serv. Ch. 214 (S.S.B. 6272); RCW 46.96.185(1)(g)(vii).

2. Lucid Group applied for a dealer license from the DOL after the agency informed Lucid it could obtain one. AR at 253. Nine months later, DOL reversed course and issued a notice of intent to deny the application. AR at 260. DOL's sole basis for denial was that "RCW 46.70.045 and RCW 46.96.185(g)

prohibit the Department from issuing Lucid Group USA a vehicle dealer license." *Id*.

RCW 46.70.045 provides that the DOL may deny a dealer license when "the issuance of a new license or subagency would cause a manufacturer ... affiliated entity, or other person controlled by or under common control with a manufacturer ... to be in violation of chapter 46.96 RCW," Washington's Franchise Act. As relevant here, RCW 46.96.185(1)(g) in turn provides that, "[n]otwithstanding the terms of a franchise agreement, a manufacturer ... shall not ... [c]ompete with a new motor vehicle dealer by acting in the capacity of a new motor vehicle dealer, or by owning, operating, or controlling, whether directly or indirectly, a motor vehicle dealership in this state."

Lucid requested an administrative hearing. AR at 237. The parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment on whether RCW 46.96.185(1)(g) prohibited Lucid Group from selling Lucid vehicles, and, if it did, whether that prohibition is constitutional as applied to Lucid. AR at 231–48. The Office of Administrative Hearings affirmed. The ALJ's order explained that "[t]he only dispute is one of law, namely, whether the Franchise Act applies to [Lucid] when it has no independent franchisee dealers." AR at 782–83. The order "conclude[d] that RCW 46.96.185(1)(g) does apply to [Lucid], and that it prohibits [Lucid] from obtaining a motor vehicle license." *Id.* The ALJ did

not consider Lucid's constitutional arguments, stating that it "does not have the authority to address constitutional issues." *Id.* The Director issued a final order affirming the denial. AR at 1056–58.

- 3. Lucid timely petitioned Thurston County Superior Court for review. App. 5. The Superior Court transferred the case to the Court of Appeals, Division II under RCW 34.05.518(1)(b) because judicial review can occur based on the agency record without any further factual development. App. 48–49. The Court of Appeals, Division II *sua sponte* transferred the case to Division I pursuant to Court Administrative Rule 21(a).
- 4. On November 25, 2024, the Court of Appeals issued a published opinion affirming DOL's denial of Lucid Group's dealer application. Slip. op. 24. The Court held RCW 46.96.185(1)(g) prohibited Lucid Group from obtaining a dealer license and selling Lucid vehicles, reasoning that the Franchise Act regulates not only "traditional dealer-manufacturer relationships, but also the relationships of manufacturer's affiliates and dealers of any make or line." *Id.* at 16.

The Court rejected Lucid's claim that prohibiting Lucid Group from conducting its business of selling cars violates the Privileges and Immunities Clause of the Washington Constitution, art. I, § 12. Slip op. 17–21. The Court rejected Lucid's argument that Lucid Group has a fundamental right to

"carry on business," thereby implicating the Privileges and Immunities Clause. *Id.* at 20. The Court reasoned that "Lucid Group fails to cite any authority specifically creating a fundamental right to sell cars," and it noted that "RCW 46.96.185(1)(g) equally prohibits all manufacturers or their affiliates from 'compet[ing]' with dealers outside of a few exceptions." *Id.* The Court further reasoned that the law does not "entirely block[]" Lucid Group from doing business because "if Lucid Group wishes to enter the motor vehicle market, it merely needs to do so in a manner consistent with the Franchise Act and RCW 46.98.185(1)(g)"—*i.e.*, through an independent franchised dealer. *Id.* at 20–21.

In a footnote, the Court stated that "[e]ven if a fundamental right was implicated, we would hold that RCW 46.96.185(1)(g) is based on reasonable grounds." *Id.* at 21 n.8. In full, the Court's explanation of those grounds is:

Unlike [Lucid's cited] cases, more than mere protectionism or favoritism motivates RCW 46.96.185(1)(g). From the beginning of the Act, RCW 46.98.185(1)(g) articulates a goal of responding to observed "power disparities" between manufacturers and dealers as the "sale of motor vehicles in this state vitally affect the general economy of the state and the public interest and public welfare." RCW 46.96.010. These goals constitute reasonable grounds for the Act.

#### V. ARGUMENT

The decision below warrants review because it raises "an issue of substantial public interest," RAP 13.4(b)(4), that involves a "significant question of law" under the Washington Constitution, RAP 13.4(b)(2), as to which "the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with" this Court's precedent, RAP 13.4(b)(1). If the Court of Appeals' decision stands, all direct-sales-only electric vehicle manufacturers except Tesla will be prohibited from opening dealerships in the state. That decision will not only have a profound practical impact on Washington consumers and the environment, but also will render nugatory the Privileges and Immunities Clause's protection against special-interest legislation.

## A. Whether Direct-Sales-Only Manufacturers Can Sell Vehicles in Washington is an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

This case warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because it raises an issue of substantial public interest: Is Tesla really the only electric vehicle manufacturer that Washington will allow to sell cars directly to Washington consumers?

The State of Washington desires to be a leader on climate action, having adopted an impressive goal of "limiting [greenhouse gas] emissions to 45% below 1990 levels by 2030 and achieving net-zero emissions by 2050." Washington

Interagency Electric Vehicle Coordinating Council, at 9, *supra*.<sup>2</sup> According to Washington's Interagency Electric Vehicle Coordinating Council—which is chaired by officials from Washington's Departments of Commerce and Transportation—electric vehicles "play a critical role in the state's decarbonization efforts," as vehicles represent *24 percent* of the state's greenhouse gas emissions. *Id*.

The Council concluded that permitting electric vehicle manufacturers to "sell direct to consumers" is important to "accelerate" electric-vehicle adoption rates. *Id.* at 116–17. It explained that "[c]urrently, Tesla is the only [electric vehicle manufacturer] allowed to sell directly to consumers in Washington," and that "this market inconsistency creates an unnecessary barrier to EV adoption." *Id.* at 117. The Council's "modeling shows the state can no longer leave any policy option untapped to increase EV adoption," and that permitting manufacturers like Lucid to directly sell vehicles in the state will "empower[] consumer choice and create[e] fair competition in the automaker market." *Id.* at 117–18.

Indeed, the direct-sales model is critical for the emerging electric vehicle industry for many reasons, including because: new electric vehicle manufacturers are still growing and lack the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Available at https://deptofcommerce.app.box.com/s/uphekt6 rwpmtvbhojyi6eifjxdwttdvh.

sales and service volume necessary to support a franchised dealership network; electric vehicles generally require less maintenance than internal-combustion vehicles, which would greatly reduce franchised dealers' revenue; and electric vehicle manufacturers are in a better position to educate consumers about their new technologies. See, e.g., Mackinac Center, Direct Sales of Electric Vehicles;3 Electrification Coalition, EVs and Consumer Choice.<sup>4</sup>

The direct-sales model also saves consumers thousands of dollars per vehicle by avoiding unnecessary markups added by independent franchised dealers that depress electric vehicle adoption rates. An analysis by the U.S. Department of Justice concluded that forcing manufacturers to sell through independent franchised dealers costs consumers an average of \$2,225 per vehicle (in 2000 dollars). See DOJ, Economic Analysis Group, Competition Advocacy Paper, Economic Effects of State Bans on Direct Manufacturer Sales to Car Buyers 4 (May 2009). More recently, Volkswagen dealers are adding \$10,000 to \$20,000 markups to its electric vehicle, the ID Buzz. Rob Stumpf, INSIDEEVs.com, Volkswagen ID. Buzz Dealer Markups Are

<sup>3</sup> Available at https://www.mackinac.org/archives/2021/The%20Case%20 for%20Direct%20Sales%20--%20March%202021%20Update.pdf.

<sup>4</sup> Available at https://electrificationcoalition.org/work/state-ev-policy/evs-

and-consumer-choice/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Available at https://www.justice.gov/atr/public/eag/246374.pdf.

Here, Even Though WV Said "Don't" (Nov. 23, 2024).6 Independent franchised dealers have hindered the transition to electric vehicles in other ways, such as by pressuring the Biden Administration to "tap the breaks" on environmental initiatives that would hasten the transition in an open letter signed by nearly 100 Washington dealers.<sup>7</sup>

Tesla's growth in Washington is a testament to the growing consumer demand for direct sales of electric vehicles. Before the Washington Legislature enacted a special provision for Tesla in 2014, see p. 4, supra, Tesla already had opened four dealerships in the state. 8 Tesla has since opened at least *five more* dealerships. 9 Nearly 100,000 Washingtonians drive a Tesla, representing approximately 55 percent of the battery electric vehicles registered in the state. See Washington State Open Data Portal, Most Common Registered Electric Vehicles. 10

Now is a critical moment for broadening Washington consumers' access to electric vehicles. While first-generation electric vehicles tended to have high price tags, Lucid will soon

Available at https://insideevs.com/news/741991/vw-id-buzz-markupsare-here/.

See Open Ltr. from Auto Dealers to President Biden, available at https://evvoiceofthecustomer.com/ (last visited Dec. 22, 2024).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See Washington State Department of Revenue, Business Lookup, available at https://secure.dor.wa.gov/gteunauth/ /#6. <sup>9</sup> See id.

https://data.wa.gov/Demographics/Most-Common-Available at Registered-Electric-Vehicle-Models/cki8-rxms.

be introducing new models at lower price points to reach a wider market. *See* Jay Ramey, *Lucid's next EV will be much more affordable*, Autoweek (Sept. 11, 2024). Other direct-sales-only electric vehicle manufacturers are implementing similar plans. Left uncorrected, the Court of Appeals' decision means that these electric vehicles will not be available for purchase in the state, to the disadvantage of Washington consumers and the state's aim to lead the nation on climate change action.

# B. The Court of Appeals' Narrow Interpretation of the Privileges & Immunities Clause Conflicts With This Court's Precedents and the Washington Constitution

The absurdity of Washington closing its market to every direct-sales-only manufacturer but for Tesla also raises a substantial constitutional question warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(3). The Privileges and Immunities Clause of the Washington Constitution "was intended to prevent favoritism and special treatment for a few to the disadvantage of others." *Martinez-Cuevas*, 196 Wash.2d at 518. Yet that is precisely what Washington law, as construed by the Court of Appeals, does—it

<sup>11</sup> Available at https://www.autoweek.com/news/a62156785/2027-lucidearth-preview/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See, e.g., Peter Valdes-Dapena, *The Rivian R2 and R3 are Rivian's smaller, more affordable off-road EVs*, CNN (Mar. 7, 2024), available at https://www.cnn.com/2024/03/07/business/rivian-reveals-new-affordable-evs/index.html.

insulates the state's independent franchised dealers and Tesla from competition to the disadvantage of Washington consumers.

This Court applies a two-step analysis to Privileges and Immunities Clause claims: "First, we ask whether a challenged law grants a 'privilege' or 'immunity' for purposes of our state constitution. If the answer is yes, then we ask whether there is a 'reasonable ground' for granting that privilege or immunity." *Martinez-Cuevas*, 196 Wash.2d at 519 (citations omitted). The decision below contradicts this Court's precedent with respect to both steps and its reasoning renders the Clause a paper tiger.

1. This Court has repeatedly held that the right to "carry on business" implicates a fundamental right. Ass'n of Wash. Spirits & Wine Distribs. v. Wash. State Liquor Control Bd., 182 Wash.2d 342, 360–61, 340 P.3d 849 (2015); Am. Legion Post #149 v. Wash. State Dept. of Health, 164 Wash.2d 570, 607, 192 P.3d 306 (2008); Grant Cnty. Fire Prot. Dist. No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake, 150 Wash.2d 791, 812, 83 P.3d 419 (2004); State v. Vance, 29 Wash. 435, 458, 70 P. 34 (1902). The Court of Appeals nevertheless held that prohibiting Lucid Group selling Lucid cars did not implicate a "privilege" or "immunity" for three reasons: (1) there is no authority "specifically creating a fundamental right to sell cars;" (2) "RCW 46.96.185(1)(g) equally prohibits all manufacturers or their affiliates from 'compet[ing]' with dealers outside of a few exceptions;" and (3)

Lucid Group is not "entirely blocked from doing business" because "if Lucid Group wishes to enter the motor vehicle market, it merely needs to do so in a manner consistent with the Franchise Act and RCW 46.98.185(1)(g)"—in other words, change its business model to sell through independent franchised dealers. Slip op. 20–21.

The Court of Appeals' requirement that Lucid identify an authority "specifically creating a fundamental right to sell cars" conflicts with Martinez-Cuevas. In Martinez-Cuevas, this Court considered whether RCW 49.46.130(2)(g)'s exemption of agricultural workers from overtime laws implicated fundamental right. 197 Wash.2d at 519–22. No prior authority had held that overtime laws implicate a fundamental right. See id. However, the Court explained that, while its prior decisions have "identified fundamental rights of state citizenship," it has "never characterized this list as comprehensive or limited to only those enumerated rights." *Id.* at 522 (emphasis added). The Court proceeded to reason that, with respect to agricultural workers, overtime laws implicate "the fundamental right to health and safety protections of the Minimum Wage Act," and, with respect to employers, the exemption "grants dairy farmers a privilege or immunity from paying otherwise mandatory overtime pay." Id. The Court of Appeals' requirement that Lucid identify a preexisting authority specifically holding that there is a fundamental

right to sell cars is irreconcilable with this Court's approach in *Martinez-Cuevas*.

The Court of Appeals' decision further conflicts with this Court's decisions in *Ralph v. City of Wenatchee*, 34 Wash.2d 638, 209 P.2d 270 (1949); *State v. W.W. Robinson Co.*, 84 Wash. 246, 146 P. 628 (1915); *City of Seattle v. Dencker*, 58 Wash. 501, 108 P. 1086 (1910); and *In re Camp*, 38 Wash. 393, 80 P. 547 (1905).

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