FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/12/2025 3:38 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

NO. 1**0**3722-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LUCID GROUP USA, INC.,

Petitioner,

V.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF LICENSING,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

NICHOLAS W. BROWN Attorney General

JONATHAN E. PITEL, WSBA # 47516 LEAH E. HARRIS, WSBA # 40815 Assistant Attorneys General 1125 Washington Street SE Olympia WA 98504-0110 (360) 753-2702 OID #91029

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The Court of Appeals applied settled law to properly reject Lucid's claim that RCW 46.96.185(1)(g)'s bar on vehicle manufacturers simultaneously operating as vehicle dealers infringes on its right to carry on business. Rather, as the Court of Appeals correctly noted, the law implicates a narrower interest to sell vehicles in Washington using "its preferred method

9

('direct-sales-only')." *Lucid Group USA, Inc.*, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 94. Because operating a vehicle dealership is not a fundamental right of state citizenship, the court correctly held that the law does not implicate or violate the privileges and immunities clause. *Id*.

straightforwardly The court applied this Court's precedent, including Washington Food Industry Assocation & Maplebear, Inc. City of Seattle. v. 1 Wn.3d 1, 524 P.3d 181 (2023), Am. Legion Post No. 149 v. Washington State Department of Health, 164 Wn.2d 570, 192 P.3d 306 (2008), and Association of Washington Spirits and Wine Distributors v. Liquor Control Board, 182 Wn.2d 342, 340 P.3d 849 (2015). Because the question and law at issue in this case is neither complex nor addresses unanswered questions, the petition does not involve a significant question of law warranting this Court's attention. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Moreover, even if the petition involves an issue of public interest, Lucid's environmental policy arguments must be directed to the legislature—not this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). *See e.g.*, SB 6082, 66th Leg. Reg. Sess. (2020); HB 1388, 67th Leg. Reg. Sess. (2021); SB 6304, 68th Leg. Reg. Sess. (2024).

This Court's review is unwarranted.

A. The Court of Appeals Followed Long-Settled Law in Determining That RCW 46.96.185(1)(g) Does Not Implicate or Create a Privilege or Immunity

The Court of Appeals properly held that RCW 46.96.185(1)(g)'s prohibition on licensed vehicle manufacturers or their affiliates holding vehicle dealer licenses does not violate the Washington Constitution's privileges and immunities clause because the law does not implicate a fundamental right of state citizenship.

Washington courts apply a two-step analysis when evaluating a challenge under the privileges and immunities clause. Ockletree v. Franciscan Health System, 179 Wn.2d 769, 776, 317 P.3d 1009 (2014).³ First, the Court determines whether a challenged law grants a privilege or immunity. *Wash. Food Indus. Assoc.*, 1 Wn.3d 1 at 27-28. If not, the Court's inquiry ends and there is no violation. *Id.* If it does, the court asks whether reasonable grounds exist for the grant of that privilege or immunity. *Id.* Legislative action based on reasonable grounds will be upheld. *Ockletree*, 179 Wn.2d at 783.

The Court of Appeals followed this Court's precedent and correctly found RCW 46.96.185(1)(g) does not implicate a fundamental right or violate the privileges and immunities clause.

³ Laws that do not implicate a fundamental right of state citizenship are subject to the same review as under the equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. *Ockletree*, 179 Wn.2d at 776. Lucid does not challenge the Court of Appeals holding that RCW 46.96.185(1)(g) satisfies rational basis. *Lucid Group USA, Inc.*, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 95-97.

1. The Court of Appeals correctly identified the right implicated as the right to sell cars, which is not a fundamental right of state citizenship

The terms "privileges" and "immunities" refers only to "those fundamental rights which belong to the citizens of the state by reason of such citizenship." *Ockletree*, 179 Wn.2d at 778 (quoting *State v. Vance*, 29 Wash. 435, 458, 70 P. 34 (1902)). While the "right to carry on business" is a "long-recognized privilege under our constitution," *Assoc'n of Wash. Spirits and Wine Distribs.*, 182 Wn.2d at 360, this Court has warned against simply accepting the assertion of a fundamental "right to carry on business when a narrower, nonfundamental right is truly at issue." *Id.* Indeed, the Court recently cautioned that the "right to carry on business" is "implicated only in very narrow circumstances." *Wash. Food Indus. Assoc.*, 1 Wn.3d at 28.

The Court examines the specifics of the regulated activity to determine whether a statute truly implicates the right to carry on business or constitutes an ordinary business regulation that does not implicate constitutional concerns. This Court has distilled several principles governing this analysis. A statute that "does not prevent any entity from engaging in business," and merely regulates how that business shall be conducted, does not implicate the fundamental right to do business under the privileges and immunities clause. *Am. Legion Post #149*, 164 Wn.2d at 608. This Court also has distinguished between businesses that one has the right to engage in and those that require a license from the state. *Randles v. Wash. State Liquor Control Bd.*, 33 Wn.2d 688, 694, 206 P.2d 1209 (1949).

For example, in *American Legion Post No. 149*, this Court rejected an attempt to characterize "[s]moking inside a place of employment" as implicating the fundamental right to "carry on business therein." 164 Wn.2d at 608. Because the smoking restriction did not block the appellant from doing business, there was no article I, section 12 violation. *Id.* at 607. As the Court of Appeals aptly noted, the decision "rested on 'the distinction between a lawful business which a citizen has the right to engage in and one in which he may engage in only as a matter of grace of the state." *Lucid Group USA, Inc.*, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 93 (quoting *Randles*, 33 Wn.2d at 694).

Similarly, in Association of Washington Spirits and Wine Distributors, the Court rejected as "overbroad" the plaintiff's attempt to characterize the "assignment of different licensing fees for different abilities to sell and distribute spirits" as burdening the "fundamental right to carry on business." 182 Wn.2d at 362. The Court held the statute did not implicate the "right to do business" because it does not "unfairly discriminate against a class of businesses to the benefit of another class of the same businesses." *Id.* As such, the right at issue was more properly characterized as the "right to sell liquor," which this Court has never recognized as a "fundamental right or privilege." Lucid Group USA, Inc., 33 Wn. App. 2d at 94 (quoting Assoc 'n of Wash. Spirits and Wine Distribs., 182 Wn.2d at 362).

This Court has long recognized there is no grant of a "privilege" when similarly situated businesses are treated

15

equally. *See, e.g., City of Seattle v. Gervasi*, 144 Wash. 429, 258 P. 328 (1927) (upheld city ordinance that prohibited the practice of some occupations on Sundays because all members of the same occupation were similarly treated, even if the occupations were treated differently); *Bauer v. State*, 7 Wn.2d 476, 110 P.2d 154 (1941) (statute that treats candy wholesalers differently from candy retailers allowed because the statute applies equally to each person within the class).

The Court of Appeals properly applied these precedents to conclude that "Lucid Group's assertion that it has a fundamental right to 'carry on business' is overgeneralized, as the right is narrower than Lucid asserts[.]" *Lucid Group USA, Inc.,* 33 Wn. App. 2d at 94. The court noted that "the law 'does not unfairly discriminate against a class of businesses to the benefit of another class of the same businesses; it merely assigns a uniform' prohibition in the manner it may wish to carry out its business." *Id.* at 94 (quoting *Ass'n of Wash. Spirits,* 182 Wn.2d at 362). Because RCW 46.96.185(1)(g) "equally prohibits all

manufacturers or their affiliates from competing with dealers outside of a few exceptions," it does not implicate a broad "right to carry on business." *Id.* at 94. In fact, Lucid admitted the statute treats all manufacturers equally in its opening brief below, observing that the law "requir[es] all manufacturers to sell their vehicles through the dealers." Appellant's Br., *Lucid Group USA*, *Inc.*, 33 Wn. App. 2d, 559 P.3d 545 (2024), at 26, 27. Because RCW 46.96.185(1)(g) applies equally to vehicle manufacturers and their affiliates, with limited exceptions, the law creates no "privilege."

The Court of Appeals also correctly concluded that Lucid is not "effectively prohibited" from conducting business in Washington. *Lucid Group USA, Inc.*, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 94. Rather, following *American Legion Post No. 149*, the court held that "Lucid Group is not prevented from engaging in business within the motor vehicle market, only that its preferred method ("direct-sales-only") is not allowed. *Id.* at 94 (internal quotations and citations omitted). "Instead, if Lucid wishes to enter the motor vehicle market, it merely needs to do so in a manner consistent with the Franchise Act and RCW 46.98.185(1)(g) [sic]." *Id.* at 95.

Engaging in business as a vehicle dealer is an activity "one ... may engage in only as a matter of grace of the state." *Randles*, 33 Wn.2d at 694; *see generally*, chapter 46.70 RCW, chapter 46.96 RCW. The Court of Appeals correctly held that selling cars is not a fundamental right of state citizenship. It is, instead, a right "left to the discretion of the legislature." *Martinez-Cuevas v. DeRuyter Bros. Dairy, Inc.*, 196 Wn.2d 506, 519, 475 P.3d 164 (2020). The Court's prior precedent provides full answers to the issues Lucid raises in its petition. Further review is unwarranted. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

2. The Court of Appeals opinion does not conflict with this Court's precedent

In an attempt to manufacture a conflict with this Court's case law, Lucid misreads the Court of Appeals. It claims the court required Lucid to "identify an authority 'specifically creating a fundamental right to sell cars." Pet. 14. Not so. The Court of Appeals merely followed this Court's warning that the fundamental right to carry on business is "implicated only in very narrow circumstances." *Lucid Group USA, Inc.*, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 92 (quoting *Wash. Food Indus. Assoc.*, 1 Wn.3d at 28).

Applying this Court's precedent, the court rightly concluded that the right to carry on business is implicated when a party "is entirely blocked from doing business, when the law unfairly discriminates between businesses, with an eye to the type of industry at issue." *Lucid Group USA, Inc.*, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 94. Because Lucid is not blocked from doing business, the court properly identified the actual right implicated by the denial of Lucid's vehicle dealer application as the right to sell cars. *Id.* The court observed that "Lucid fails to cite any authority specifically creating a fundamental right to sell cars." *Id.* And this is true. Like this Court observed with spirits in *Association of Washington Spirits and Wine Distributors*, no court has ever

"held that the right to sell [cars] is a fundamental right or privilege." Assoc. of Wash. Spirits, 182 Wn.2d at 362.

Nor is there any conflict with any of the other cases Lucid cites. First, Lucid misreads *Martinez-Cuevas*. Lucid claims that because *Martinez-Cuevas* noted the Court had not enumerated a comprehensive list of fundamental rights of citizenship, the Court of Appeals wrongly required Lucid to "identify a pre-existing authority specifically holding that there is a fundamental right to sell cars[.]" Pet. 14-15. But this Court's unremarkable statement that its past opinions do not comprise an exhaustive list of fundamental rights or privileges poses no conflict with the Court of Appeals holding that the right to sell cars, especially in the manner desired, is not fundamental.

Notably, *Martinez-Cuevas* actually pointed to a source of the fundamental right in question there: article II, section 35 of the Washington Constitution. *Martinez-Cuevas*, 196 Wn.2d at 519. That provision requires the legislature to pass laws to protect workers engaged in dangerous employment. *Id.* Accordingly, dairy workers, who engage in "extremely dangerous" work, had a fundamental right to be covered by the provisions of the Minimum Wage Act, which establishes a minimum wage and provides overtime protections. *Id.* at 521. No such constitutional guarantee or fundamental right to sell cars exists here.

The three other cases Lucid relies on, *Ex parte Camp*, 38 Wash. 393, 80 P. 547 (1905); *City of Seattle v. Dencker*, 58 Wash. 501, 108 P. 1086 (1910); and *State v. W.W. Robinson Co.*, 84 Wash. 246, 146 P. 628 (1915), involved laws that improperly distinguished between similar classes of businesses selling the same products with no justification. The laws in those cases were further invalid because they were motivated by "mere protectionism or favoritism." *Lucid Group USA, Inc.*, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 95 n.8. That is not a problem here. *See* Sec. IV.A.3 *supra*; Br. of Resp't 54-63.

In *Dencker*, the Court found the only possible grounds for the distinction was economic protectionism, and it could identify "no public concern" the distinction furthered. *Dencker*, 58 Wash. at 504. In fact, the Court was concerned that the ordinance was anti-competitive and pro-monopoly. *Id.* at 510-11.

Similarly, *Robinson* concluded that there was no basis for a statute that exempted cereal and flour mills from onerous regulations that applied to other similarly situated businesses. *Robinson*, 84 Wash. at 249-50. But, as the Court of Appeals held, and as Lucid concedes, RCW 46.96.185(1)(d) treats manufacturers and their affiliates alike, and there are reasonable grounds to distinguish between manufacturers and dealers.

Ex parte Camp is more of the same: the Court invalidated an ordinance that prohibited peddling produce within the city limits but exempted farmers. *Camp*, 38 Wash. at 396-97. Although the court found the city had the power to regulate produce peddling as a "nuisance," it could find no basis for

22

permitting one class "to indulge in the nuisance [while] others [were] unconditionally prohibited." *Id*. at 397.⁴

Nor does *Ralph v. City of Wenatchee* conflict. In that case, this Court invalidated an ordinance that required non-resident photographers to obtain a license to engage in photography business but exempted resident photographers. *Ralph*, 34 Wn.2d 638, 638-40, 209 P.2d 270 (1949). The Court held that the ordinance violated the privileges and immunities clause because "it 'discriminates unreasonably' against a class of business nonresident photographers—by prohibiting their business in favor of the business of another class of the same business resident photographers." *Wash. Food Indus. Assoc.*, 1 Wn.3d at 28 (quoting *Ralph*, 34 Wn.2d at 641). Here, in contrast, Lucid remains able to sell cars in Washington; it "merely needs to do

⁴ Part of *Camp*'s reasoning—that legislation could only differentiate between classes of businesses for purposes of taxation, not of regulation—was abandoned only 10 years later in *Dencker. Compare Camp* 38 Wash. at 397, *with Deckner*, 58 Wash. at 504.

so in a manner consistent with the Franchise Act and RCW 46.98.185(1)(g) [sic]," as all manufacturers must. *Lucid Group USA, Inc.*, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 95.

There is no conflict with this Court's precedent, which provides ample guidance for how to resolve the routine constitutional concerns Lucid raises. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3). The Court should deny review.

3. Even if a fundamental right were at issue, the Court properly found that there are reasonable grounds for prohibiting manufacturers from operating as dealers

The Court of Appeals also correctly concluded that, although it did not need to reach the second step of the privileges and immunities analysis, if it did, there were reasonable grounds for the licensing restrictions. *Lucid Group USA, Inc.*, 33 Wn. App. 2d at 95 n. 8.

The reasonable grounds test is satisfied if the "legislative distinction . . . in fact serves the legislature's stated goal." *Martinez-Cuevas*, 196 Wn.2d at 523. That is, the grant of the privilege or immunity must bear a "natural, reasonable, and just

relation to the subject matter of the act." *Ockletree*, 179 Wn.2d at 783.

The legislature limited the ability of manufacturers to sell vehicles directly to consumers because it was concerned with maintaining competition among dealers and ensuring strong and sound dealerships in the state. RCW 46.96.010. This is a legitimate public interest focused on benefiting the consuming public and ensuring a strong, local automobile industry, an important sector of Washington's economy. The Court of Appeals correctly observed that the Franchise Act also "articulates a goal of responding to observed power disparities between manufacturers and dealers as the sale of motor vehicles in this state vitally affect the general economy of the state and the public interest and public welfare." Lucid Group USA, Inc., 33 Wn. App. 2d at 95 n. 8 (internal quotations omitted).

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